January 21, 2026 - Planning Board Meeting Minutes

PLANNING BOARD
27 School Street
HILLSBOROUGH, NH
January 21, 2026

TIME: 6:00 p.m. —7:10 p.m. DATE APPROVED 02/04/26
CHAIRPERSON: Chairperson Susanne White

VICE CHAIRPERSON: Dana Clow,

MEMBERS: Andrew Morris, Steve Livingston, Bryant Wheeler, Kim Opperman
EX-OFFICIO: James Bailey III

PLANNING DIRECTOR: Robyn Payson

ALTERNATES: Cathy Houle

Excused: None

Public: Leigh Bosse, Peter Mellen LLS, Kathryn Luiz, Katie Lucas, Fred and Cheryl Sprague,
Richard Head, Anthony Costello, Miah Lucas, Katie Lucas, Zach Whitney

Pledge of Allegiance
Call to Order:

Chairperson Susanne White called the meeting to order at 6:00 PM and called the roll. Cathy
Houle was appointed to sit for Kim Opperman until his arrival.

Minutes

1/7/26-Steve Livingston made a motion to approve the minutes. Jim Bailey seconded the
motion. The motion carried unanimously.

Opening of the Sidewalk Construction Bid.

Robyn Payson said the Town has received one bid for the construction of the Main Street
Sidewalk. It was from John H. Lyman and Sons Inc. Jim Bailey opened and read the bid which
was $2,240,375.00.

Public Hearing

Subdivision

Myrtle Street (Map 11P & 23 Lots 191 & 113)

Leigh Bosse

Leigh Bosse apologized to the Board for missing the previous meeting.

Robyn Payson shared with the Board comments from the Police Chief recommending sidewalks
on Cardinal Circle.

Page 1 of 10




January 21, 2026 - Planning Board Meeting Minutes

Peter Mellen said he revised the plans based on the previous meeting. He said Parcel A will be
annexed to the Lucas property. He recalculated the buildable area on 191-9 and 191-10. They
have received State Subdivision Approval from DES on the lots.

Leigh Bosse said when they first came to the Board a couple of years ago with a six lot
subdivision he had written to those people (the Lucas’s) saying they were happy to convey that
lot if they would pay the expenses. When decided to go to the eleven lots, Peter initially said
they might need that acreage to qualify. So he wrote back and said unfortunately he could not
continue that offer to deed them the land. He said he has heard nothing from them since. He
said he understood from the last meeting they said they tried to get ahold of him. He said he
didn’t understand how they couldn’t. His address and phone number has been on the letters that
he sent. As a result of the last meeting Peter Mellen came to him and gave him their name and
address, they agreed that he was going to write and say they could go forward with the lot.
That’s until the next day when he received a formal complaint from DES accusing him of
violating the disturbing of the soil of one hundred thousand square feet, which is a Class “B”
felony. They found out that they didn’t do anything and it was the lot with the cell tower who is
doing that and not him. He said accusing him of a Class B felony is liable. Despite that he is
still willing to convey parcel A if they pay the expenses, but a couple of things are going to have
to happen before that. Number one, they (the Lucas’s) are going to write to DES and tell them
they are sorry and it is not Mr. Bosse’s property and that they were wrong. Number two, they are
going to write him a letter of apology saying you are sorry that you accused me of a Class B
felony. Absent that, they are going to be sued for fifty thousand dollars for liable.

Andrew Morris asked if the triangle was to be conveyed or not. Because that is a condition of
the subdivision approval.

Leigh Bosse said it will be conveyed if they do those two things.
Andrew Morris said he didn’t know if they could go farther because that is a condition.

Leigh Bosse said then they should drop the condition. It doesn’t affect the Planning Board
whether that property belongs to him or them.

Dana Clow said with all due respect it doesn’t affect us whether that individual elects to write the
DES letter or not or anything else with regard to that allegation. The condition is there and he
expects it is going to stay.

Leigh Bosse said how do you determine that [ have to convey his land to them.

Andrew Morris said it’s part of the subdivision.

There was discussion about that condition being a part of the original approval. Robyn Payson
said that condition was new to this iteration of the subdivision.

Andrew Morris said, but it does exist for this subdivision.

Page 2 of 10



January 21, 2026 - Planning Board Meeting Minutes

Robyn Payson said that was correct.
Dana Clow said he was led to understand that triangle showed on those plans.

Robyn Payson said on the subdivision plan that was previously approved it was shown but never
conveyed.

Dana Clow said it is shown to be a parcel with the intent of conveyance.

Peter Mellen said the lot is shown on these plans the same way it was shown on the previous
subdivision plans.

Dana Clow said so it does exist on the record.

Peter Mellen said it was never conveyed and it wasn’t a specific condition of the approval.

Dana Clow said it was an agreement, but it was never formally exercised.

Leigh Bosse said there wasn’t any agreement.

Kim Opperman said in his opinion if someone has to send his engineer out and redraw something
and spend money to add something that is improperly on his land, why should the land owner
have to spend money to correct something and give it to them without cost. They should at least
pay the engineering costs, and if they are not interested can we at least have a verbal.

Leigh Bosse said if they agree to those terms he will give them the land but he is not going to
stand accused of a class B felony in retribution for saying he was not going to give them the land.
They can answer that right now.

Dana Clow said the costs that are involved here are effectively the cost of filing the plan and the
conveyance of the document, a deed and a plan. It’s really the cost of drafting the deed and the

filing costs to put it on record.

Leigh Bosse said if it’s done tonight, if the plan is approved tonight without subdividing that off
tonight then you are talking about a whole new application for subdivision.

Dana Clow said if this plan goes to record.

Leigh Bosse said it’s his ownership. If I t isn’t approved tonight, they need a whole new
subdivision plan.

Chairperson Susanne White wanted to talk about sidewalks. She said with 10 lots and 10 new
houses coming in there should be sidewalks.

Steve Livingston said this comment came in too late. Comments were due at the end of
December and they should have had it by the first meeting.

Page 3 of 10



January 21, 2026 - Planning Board Meeting Minutes

There was a brief discussion, and the consensus of the Board was the recommendation for
sidewalks came in too late to be reasonably considered.

Peter Mellen asked the Board to develop a plan for different zones for sidewalks so the
developers could know beforehand.

Susanne White opened the public hearing.

Kaitlyn Lucas said she came to the Board about a year and a half ago to run a daycare out of her
home. Leigh showed up and brought up the “triangle” of property and wanted them to pay for
the title fees. She said she would need to talk to her husband. Since then they have hired a
realtor (Diane Kelley) who also worked with the title company who contacted Robyn Payson
briefly to get contact information. She (Diane Kelley) has contacted Leigh Bosse’s realty
company, they have paid for title fees and signed all of the paperwork for this land so it is
literally waiting for Leigh’s signature. That was done a while ago and the title company has
followed up several times and has told the Lucas’s they can’t get ahold of anybody. Ms. Kelly
has also called and spoken to Leigh’s wife several times and it has been at standstill. So she did
know about this agreement because Mr. Bosse showed up at a Board meeting and approached her
in front of all of you and I was confused and the Board had to explain and break it all down for
her.

Mrs. Lucas was asked who filed with the state and what paperwork are you talking about?

Mrs. Lucas said she didn’t know anything about it.

Dana Clow said, the title is one thing, do you have a deed?

Mrs. Lucas said the title company has all of that. She said that her husband was told it was
already in town records. She said her most recent tax stuff reflects the updated parcel. She said
she believed that was brought up at the last meeting, but she wasn’t there.

Dana Clow said we don’t know what that paperwork is.

Mrs. Lucas said it was the title for that parcel or deed. She didn’t know if she was using the right
word.

Dana Clow said he didn’t know the answer to what she was telling them. He said the only
person who is going to have to sign is Mr. Bosse.

Mrs. Lucas said that is what they are waiting for.

Kim Opperman asked if she knew where his office was.

Page 4 of 10



January 21, 2026 - Planning Board Meeting Minutes

Mrs. Lucas said yes and Diane Kelley has spoken to his wife a few times about all of this. She
said they have honestly been waiting which is why her husband came to the last meeting because
they hadn’t heard anything..

Peter Mellen explained the previously approved process added the property to the tax map, but
the property is not transferred without a deed. If you did pay someone to prepare something
hopefully it is a deed.

Mrs. Lucas said yes, they are a title company, so she thinks that is why she keeps saying “title”.
This is the first house they have ever owned, and this is very new.

Peter Mellen said he recommended they contact the title company and the real estate agent and
have them figure out what has been prepared then if you have already paid for this, the only
other cost would be the recording of the deed. He said he thinks what the Board is asking for is
if you are willing to take on this cost.

Mrs. Lucas said they have already paid that, and they are waiting for it to be finalized.

Kim Opperman asked who filed the complaint with the state.

Mr. Bosse said it was Mrs. Luca’s husband. He said he is still willing to convey the property but
someone is going to apologize for accusing me of a felony.

Andrew Morris said is this a condition of approval or are we assuming it is part of the plan so we
don’t need a condition.

Peter Mellen said it was in the draft conditions.

Mr. Bosse said put in the conditions he will convey it if they will pay all of the costs involved.
Forget about the apology, he is just going to sue them for $50,000 dollars.

Peter Mellen said he had Anthony Costello there to explain some of the changes to his plans.
Mr. Costello said they had changed the road to 20ft and they had changed the water line going
around the cul-de-sac and they changed the type of pipe upon the recommendation of the
Water/Sewer Commission.

There was discussion about the type of water pipe.

Mr. Costello said the drainage calculations did not change at all.

Cheryl Sprague asked about the trees being cut down and the effect it would have on the
drainage.

Fred Sprague said the plans show a stone wall at the junction of the town-maintained portion of
Dascomb Street and the class VI road that extends up to his property. At that point there is a

Page S of 10



January 21, 2026 - Planning Board Meeting Minutes

culvert that has become inadequate to handle the water coming down from 17 Dascomb Street.
Their property curves on to Dascomb Street and because of the ruts in the driveway the water
doesn’t go into the culvert it just comes down the street and on to our property so it’s not a part
of the discussion for this subdivision but along with his wife’s drainage concerns we would hope
the Town would be mindful of that and be willing to ameliorate any significant increase in the
drainage that is happening. They did fix a couple of years ago that culvert but it has since been
deteriorating.

Dana Clow asked Mr. Sprague to point out the culvert on the plan.

Mr. Sprague said there is a seasonal stream that goes down here and dries up in the summertime.
There was further discussion about Mr. Sprague’s drainage concerns.

Dana Clow said his issue with the culvert is a town issue and to contact the Road Agent.

Mr. Costello showed Mr. Sprague the drainage plans and explained how it was designed.

Jim Bailey said if the Town owns the culvert, he will personally talk to the Road Agent about it.
Susanne White closed the public hearing.

Dana Clow asked Mr. Costello to explain to the public how the conditions of the site today and
how that’s going to change.

Mr. Costello explained they took into account the average house side and used that for the
calculations.

Steve Livingston made a motion to approve the application for a 10 lot Subdivision application
submitted by Peter Mellen of Donald R. Mellen Surveyor, LLC., on behalf of Leigh Bosse of
Dascomb Associates LLC. Myrtle Street (Maps 11P & 23 Lots 191 & 113) as shown on the plan
entitled Plan of Lots, (Maps 11P & 23 Lots 191 & 113) Hillsborough NH. dated December 8,
2026, revised January 20, 2026 with the following conditions and in accordance with the
findings of fact.

Conditions of Approval

1. Compliance with all local, state, and federal laws and regulations.

2. This decision shall run with the land and shall be binding upon the current
Developer/property owner as well as its successors and assigns.

3. The subdivision shall be built in accordance with the Plan and the Subdivision
Regulations of the Town of Hillsborough, except as noted otherwise in this Decision.
The approval of said Plan shall not be construed to be an acceptance or dedication of any
roadway shown on said Plan. In the event the Town must perform any service,

Page 6 of 10



January 21, 2026 - Planning Board Meeting Minutes

maintenance and/or repair in an emergency, the Town shall not be held responsible for
any damage to any property and shall be reimbursed fully by the Developer for any such
work performed.

4. Prior to the signing of the final plan, the following shall be done:

a. The Developer shall make a notation on the Subdivision Plan which
references the conditions and date of this decision.

b. Road construction shall begin within 24 months of approval.

c. A notation shall be made on the Subdivision Plan that all erosion
mitigation measures shall be in place prior to major road construction
commencing on the site.

d. Any plan amendments shall be submitted to the Planning Board at a public
hearing.

5. No rights under this approval may be exercised unless the Developer obtains all
necessary permits and/or zoning relief for the project as determined by the Building
Inspector/Code Enforcement Officer.

a. An electronic copy of the final plans shall be submitted to the Planning Department
for the Town’s records.

b. The Planning Board shall select an engineering firm who shall be responsible to
provide construction oversight on the proposed “Cardinal Circle” in accordance with
the Town of Hillsborough’s Subdivision Regulations §201-4 D (7) (a-d). A pre-
construction meeting shall be held with the Developer, the engineering firm, the
Building Inspector, and the Town Planner prior to start of roadway construction. A
Bond will be required of the Developer for construction oversight purposes. Review
services terminate once the road has been completed and approved by the
engineering firm.

6. The Developer will at his expense provide a “stub” to connect the driveway at Map 23
Lot 15 to Cardinal Circle the center of the driveway entrance will be 30 feet from the
south side of the right of way and Myrtle Street.

7. Suitable steps shall be taken to preserve and protect features, such as trees, scenic points,
stone walls, rock outcroppings, water bodies, wetlands, and historic landmarks pursuant
to Town Code Section 201-3(C).

The road name shall be named “Cardinal Circle”. A street name sign shall be installed
prior to the issuance of the first occupancy permit.

8. It is anticipated by the Developer that this roadway will become a Town maintained road.
The Developer shall reserve the fee interest in the roadway and rights to any and all
appurtenant easements in any deed conveying one or more lots in the subdivision to any
other party. Should the Developer wish the roadway remain private, and not convey the

Page 7 of 10



January 21, 2026 - Planning Board Meeting Minutes

road to the Town, then the Applicant shall be required to apply for a modification of this
decision so that additional conditions can be established regarding the proper
maintenance, safety, accessibility, and liability of the private road.

9. Granite bounds are to be installed at the following locations:

a. At all bend points on Cardinal Circle.

b. At all corners and angle points of the drainage easement on Lot 191-9 and 191-10
except those corners marked by existing stone walls where a drill hole is
acceptable

c. Atall lot corners along Cardinal Circle

10. Snow plowing and all road maintenance shall be the responsibility of the Developer until
such time, if any, as the roadway is accepted by the Town of Hillsborough.

11. The construction and installation of all improvements required by the Planning Board
shall be completed prior to the issuance of the first Occupancy Permit.

12. All development and construction on lots 191-1 through 191-6 and 191-8 through 191-11
will be developed with no impacts to wetlands on any property.

13. Lot development will not use naturally occurring wetlands to treat or detain stormwater
from the developed lots.

14. No dredge or fill of the wetland on the proposed lots 191-6, 9 and 10 should be allowed
at any time following approval of the subdivision plan as part of lot development.

15. Prior to site or lot development, all wetlands will be protected with appropriately installed
silt fencing or other silt/sediment control measures designed.

16. Parcel “A” shall be annexed to parcel 11P-192 within 30 days.

Findings of Fact

1. The property is located at Myrtle Street.

2. The Applicant’s Surveyor Peter D. Mellen LLS. (“the Surveyor”) was acting on behalf of
property owner, Leigh Bosse of Dascomb Associates LLC, who is the owner of record of
the lots made the subject of the Application, (hereafter the “Developer”).

3. The Property is in the Village Residential District where subdivision of land is allowed.

4. The Developer has submitted a complete subdivision plan dated December 8, 2025, and
drainage report dated September 24, 2025 (collectively “the Plans”).

5. The subdivision will be accessed by Myrtle Street Extension and serviced by Cardinal

Circle which will initially be a private road with a cul-de-sac, intended by the Developer
to become a Town owned public way.

Page 8 of 10



January 21, 2026 - Planning Board Meeting Minutes

6. The development has received state subdivision approval.

7. The subdivision meets the following criteria of section 201-6 Design Standards of the
Subdivision Regulations.

a.

The subdivision satisfies the requirements of layout of lots and sites because the
lot is appropriate for subdivision and for a residential subdivision. The lots are all
accessible by Cardinal Circle and have safe and convenient access. In addition,
conditions for the subdivision include controlling surface water runoff from the
driveways so that it doesn’t damage Cardinal Circle or Myrtle Street Extension.

The subdivision satisfies the on-site sewer disposal design standards because the
Plan submitted meets the minimum design standards for on-site sewage disposal
and water supply imposed by the State of New Hampshire Water Supply and
Pollution Control Division and the Town regulations.

The subdivision satisfies the requirements for street design because the proposed
Cardinal Circle is in harmony and conformance with existing streets and the
Town Master Plan and Official Map, provided all conditions below are met.

The Plan shows the work necessary to connect and complete improvements and
utilities between Myrtle Street Extension and Cardinal Circle.

The subdivision meets the criteria for a cul-de-sac because Cardinal Circle is
proposed to not exceed 1000 feet and terminates in an appropriate turn around. In
addition, the cul-de-sac turn around is located so that it drains toward the entrance
and to the side of the road.

The subdivision satisfies the requirement for pedestrian access ways because
Cardinal Circle and the cul-de-sac allow ample room for pedestrian traffic.

The subdivision provides adequate provisions for water supply, stormwater, and
sanitary sewage, and required utilities and improvements by including provision
for public water and septic, extension of utilities, building and paving of Cardinal
Circle. In addition, all lots are subject to the development of a stormwater and
erosion control management plan to be submitted to the Town of Hillsborough
Planning Board.

The subdivision satisfies drainage requirements and sedimentation and erosion
controls because all lots are subject to the development of a stormwater and
erosion control management plan to be submitted to the Town of Hillsborough
Planning Board.

Page 9 of 10



January 21, 2026 - Planning Board Meeting Minutes

1. The subdivision plan provides adequate fire protection because the Developer has
agreed to install a fire hydrant at the end of Cardinal Circle and at its intersection
with Myrtle Street Extension at the location requested by the Fire Chief.

Jim Bailey seconded the motion. The motion carried unanimously.

Mr. Bosse said road construction would not start until the spring, but they would like to get in
there and cut down trees. He asked if that was permissible.

Robyn Payson said she didn’t see why not.

Susanne White said we should put requiring sidewalks in the Village Residential Zone on the list
this year.

There was discussion about requiring sidewalks in town.
Robyn Payson said on the agenda for the next meeting will be Richard Head discussing the
Wetlands ordinance, and Mike Tardiff will be invited down to address the housing chapter and

master plan issues.

There being no further business Steve Livingston made the motion to adjourn Bryant Wheeler
seconded the motion. The motion carried unanimously.

Meeting Adjourned 7:10 pm

Respectfully Submitted,
Robyn L. Payson, Planning Director

Page 10 of 10



